RECEIVED

SEP 03 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT**

**CERTIORARI TO GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Alex Kinlaw, Jr. Circuit Court Judge**

**Appellate Case No. 2019-000907
Lower Case No. 2017-CP-23-5901**

Jerald D. Gaskins, Jr. #00362923. Petitioner,

vs.

State of South Carolina Respondent

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

**C. RAUCH WISE
Attorney at Law
305 Main Street
Greenwood, SC 29646
SC Bar # 006188
864) 229-5010**

Attorney for Petitioner

Statement of Issues Presented

- I. Did the Post Conviction Relief Court err in failing to find trial counsel was ineffective when trial counsel failed to object to the improper cross-examination of Jerald Gaskins when the prosecutor was permitted to ask Mr. Gaskins improper questions on cross-examination?
- II. Did the Post Conviction Relief Judge err in failing to find that trial counsel was not ineffective when he failed on several occasions to object to improper hearsay testimony as to statements made by the complaining witness were improper under Rule 801(d)(1)(D) of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence?
- III. Did the Post Conviction Relief Judge err in failing to find that trial counsel was not ineffective when he failed on several occasions to object to improper hearsay testimony as to statements made by the complaining witness were improper under Rule 801(d)(1)(D) of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence?
- IV. Did the Post Conviction Relief judge err in failing to hold trial counsel to be ineffective when trial counsel failed to object to the improper vouching for the credibility of the complaining witness?
- V. Did the Post Conviction Relief Judge err in failing to find appellate counsel was ineffective when appellate counsel admitted he knew that the South Carolina Supreme Court had granted a petition for writ of certiorari in *State v. Perez* to overturn *State v. Wallace*, but failed to disclose this fact to Jerald Gaskins prior to advising Mr. Gaskins to not file a petition for writ of certiorari to the South Carolina Supreme Court?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural History

On February 4-5, 2015, Jerald D. Gaskins went to trial on four counts of criminal sexual conduct with a minor and two counts of a lewd act upon a minor child. He was convicted on all six charges. The judge sentenced him to 20 years for the criminal sexual conduct with a minor on these charges and 15 years on one count of a lewd act upon a minor child with all sentences to run concurrently. The judge sentenced him to five years on the charge of a lewd act with that sentence to run consecutively to the other charges.

He filed a timely notice of appeal on February 13, 2015. On April 19, 2017, the South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed the conviction. The Court of Appeals discussed the issue of other bad acts under Rule 404b of the South Carolina Rules of evidence. The Court affirmed this issue based upon *State v. Wallace*, 384 S.C. 428, 683 S.E.2d 275 (2009). The Court of Appeals also affirmed the issue of improper cross-examination by the solicitor on the ground the issue was not properly preserved.

On September 14, 2017, Mr. Gaskins filed a Post Conviction Relief Petition dated August 29, 2017. He filed an Amended Petition on September 14, 2018 and October 25, 2018. The hearing was held on October 25, 2018. By Order dated February 1, 2019, Judge Alex Kinlaw denied the Petition. A timely Rule 59 Motion dated February 19, 2019, was filed on March 8, 2019. The Motion was denied on March 4, 2019 and filed on March 5, 2019. The Order was received by counsel on May 30, 2019. App. at 795. A Notice of Intent to Appeal was filed on the same date.

ARGUMENT

Question I

Did the Post Conviction Relief Court err in failing to find trial counsel was ineffective when trial counsel failed to object to the improper cross-examination of Jerald Gaskins when the prosecutor was permitted to ask Mr. Gaskins improper questions on cross-examination?

Failure of trial counsel to object to questions about text messages improperly attributed to Walt Mucienko, the father of the complaining witness

Mr. Gaskins first contends that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object to questions by the prosecutor concerning text messages allegedly sent by Mr. Gaskins. App. at 432, 1 17 to 433, 1 25. The State began their cross examination of Mr. Gaskins referencing text messages the State claimed were between Mr. Gaskins and Walt Mucienko, the father of the complaining witness. The cross-examination began with Mr. Gaskins denying that the phone number 561-7021 was in fact his number. App. 424, 1 19-20. The State never offered any testimony that the number was in fact registered to or used by Mr. Gaskins nor did the State call Mr. Mucienko to verify the messages. At the Post Conviction Relief hearing, Mr. Gaskins' attorney called Mr. Mucienko as a witness. He denied ever texting Mr. Gaskins or having any conversation with him after the accusations were brought against Mr. Gaskins. App. at 650, 1 5 to 651, 1 24. At the trial, Mr. Gaskins denied ever texting Mr. Mucienko and continued to deny the phone number was his phone. App. 425, 1 2-24. The substance of the text messages is that Mr. Gaskins was asking Mr. Mucienko to drop the charges against him.

Trial counsel finally made an objection as to foundation which was sustained. App. 426,

ll 6-23. During a non-jury discussion concerning these text messages, the State represented that the text messages were provided by Mrs. Mucienko, the wife of Walt Mucienko. The State represented that she could verify the authenticity of text messages and the fact that the phone number in question was the number of Mr. Gaskins. App. at 428, ll 8-14. These text messages had been provided to defense counsel in discovery and he so testified at the Post Conviction Relief hearing. After the conference, the cross examination of Mr. Gaskins as to the text messages continued and Mr. Gaskins continued to deny having sent any text messages to Mr. Mucienko. Mr. Gaskins testified he cut all ties to the Mucienko family after his arrest on November 14, 2012. App. at 433, ll 22-25.

At the trial, defense counsel offered no further objections to the cross-examination of the text messages. He never asked the State to establish a good faith basis for the text messages. The State never called Mr. or Ms. Mucienko to verify the text messages. Based upon the testimony at the Post Conviction relief trial, if the defense counsel had properly objected to the questioning based upon the text messages, the State would never have been able to establish a basis for asking the questions as the messages were not an exchange between Mr. Mucienko and Mr. Gaskins. Mr. Mucienko denied the phone number was his, the cell phone company was his, or that he had sent and received those texts from Mr. Gaskins. These questions were prejudicial to Mr. Gaskins. The State, with no basis for such questions, portrayed Mr. Gaskins as a liar when he denied sending the text messages to Mr. Mucienko. At the Post Conviction Relief hearing, the testimony of Mr. Mucienko proved Mr. Gaskins was telling the truth at his trial.

As one Court noted, "Although a prosecutor may impeach a witness on the basis of prior inconsistent statements, Fed.R.Evid. 613(a), a prosecutor may not use impeachment as a guise

for submitting to the jury substantive evidence that is otherwise unavailable.” *United States. v. Silverstein*, 737 F.2d 864, 868 (10th Cir. 1984); *State v. McGuire*, 272 S.C. 547, 550, 253 S.E.2d 103, 105 (1979)(“Counsel should not be permitted to go on a fishing expedition in hopes of finding some misconduct involving moral turpitude by a witness. Merely asking a question that has no basis in fact may be prejudicial.”); *State v. Creason*, 847 S.W.2d 482, 486 (Mo. Ct. App. 1993) (“On the other hand, there are limits to the scope of cross-examination. The prosecutor transcends those limits when the questions are asked merely for the purpose of improperly showing other crimes or for the purpose of going into collateral details. There is a general requirement of fairness in cross-examination, and if there is no reasonable basis on which to base such a cross-examination, it should not be made.”)(internal citations omitted) The evidence at the Post Conviction Relief hearing established that a proper objection to the cross-examination would have been sustained. The father of the complaining witness did not engage in a text message exchange with Mr. Gaskins.

The Post Conviction Relief judge erroneously ruled that the performance of trial counsel on this issue was sufficient. No facts in the record sustain this conclusion. The Court of Appeals ruled that this issue was not preserved. App. at 618. If the issue was not preserved, counsel was ineffective. The PCR judge noted that Walt Mucienko denied sending the text messages. He made no finding as to whether he was credible or not, which would have been crucial to the admissibility and to the prejudice as to the cross-examination.

Failure of trial counsel to object to improper cross-examination of by use of alleged text messages to the sister of complaining witness

In further cross-examination of Mr. Gaskins, the State asked Mr. Gaskins about an

alleged text message to the sister of the complaining witness in this case. App. at 435, 16 to 439, 12. Mr. Gaskins at trial and in the Post Conviction Relief hearing testified he did not send the texts. The text messages were not introduced at trial. Trial counsel, upon being shown the texts introduced at the Post Conviction Relief hearing, testified he had never seen the text messages until the Post Conviction Relief hearing.

Mr. Gaskins testified that upon reviewing the text messages in detail, he noticed many abnormalities that bring the source of the texts into question. While the phone does have the name "Jerald" on the screen, the times on the screen and the times on the messages do not match. The screen times are from 11:18 A.M. until 11:36 A.M.. The times on the messages are from 2:19 A.M. September 30 until October 23 at 11:13 P.M.. The only possible explanation is the messages were forwarded from another phone. The source of that phone was not given at trial. This can only be determined from a close examination of the texts. As they were not provided to trial counsel, neither he nor Mr. Gaskins had an opportunity to examine them in detail prior to trial. Mr. Gaskins was given a copy before the Post Conviction Relief hearing.

The text messages also contain references that would clearly indicate they were not from Mr. Gaskins. For example, on the 11:22 A.M. text, the statement is made "Hey tell momma that me and [complaining witness] are going to the movies if she needs me ill only answer the phone for yall." App. at 662, 11 18-20. Mr. Gaskins denied he sent such a message. He pointed out that the reference to "momma" would certainly not have been to his own mother and appears to be a reference to the complaining witness's mother. He also pointed out that on October 7 at 10:23, the text says, "Thats good. Just wanted to say we should have one more cool out before I go to New York." App. at 666, 11 3-4. Mr. Gaskins stated he had never been to New York and

had never made plans to go to New York. He stated the brother of the complaining witness, however, had in fact been to New York and moved there around this time.

He also pointed out the text of October 8 at 4:13. In response to “wyd” [what are you doing] the text is “Painting and waiting to pic up [complaining witness] from school. What are you doing?” App. at 663, ll 15-17. Mr. Gaskins stated he had never picked up the complaining witness from school and he does not paint except for painting rooms or houses. He stated the complaining witness’s brother does paint in the artistic sense. App. at 663, l 25 to 664, l 6.

On the text following the text of October 13, at 11:52 A.M., the message is “I thought we hot straight last nite about bowling so why are u telling mom I didn’t invite u this is BS Jamie [sister of complaining witness] and you know it. Who catches all the hell, Not you.” App. at 664, ll 20-23. Mr. Gaskins testified that again this message would not have come from him as the reference in the text is to “mom.” In the context of the conversation, the reference would not have been to the mother of Mr. Gaskins. He also pointed out that again on the text message of October 13 at 12:00PM makes no sense if the reference to “mom” is his mother.

These text messages were obviously prejudicial to Mr. Gaskins. The implication sought to be placed upon them by the State is that he was constantly texting about the complaining witness. The messages gave credibility to the testimony of the complaining witness. Many of these same texts were referred to during the direct testimony of the sister of the complaining witness. While defense counsel made an objection, it was overruled. The testimony was that the sister had received the messages and she took pictures of her phone with her Ipad. App. at 111, ll 1-2. Her testimony suggests the pictures taken with Ipad were made before this case arose. Tr. at 111, ll 6-8.

This also raises a serious question as to the authenticity of the text messages. Mr. Gaskins was arrested on November 14, 2012. App. at 442, ll 17-22. This case was tried in February of 2015. The testimony at the trial was the photos of the text messages were not provided to the prosecution in this case until the actual trial of the case. These messages were never turned over to the trial counsel. For over 27 months the sister of the complaining witness held on to the photos which, according to her testimony, she saved because this day may come.¹ There was no explanation at trial or the Post Conviction Relief hearing as to why she waited 27 months to disclose she had the photographs of the texts when she claimed the photographs were taken for the purpose of helping a prosecution. Interestingly, the Ipad was also not brought to the trial for defense counsel to examine. At the Post Conviction Relief hearing the State never explained the source of these text messages other than what the trial record established.

Had trial counsel made a proper objection either during the direct examination of the sister of the complaining witness or during the cross examination of Mr. Gaskins, he would have obtained the text messages in question. He and his client would then have had the opportunity to examine the messages to point out the discrepancies that were pointed out in the Post Conviction Relief hearing. The discrepancies in the messages were significant. They easily could have convinced the jury they were not from Mr. Gaskins and the witness was not truthful when she said they were.

Trial counsel was ineffective in not raising a proper objection to these text messages.

¹ Also, Officer Robert J. Perry testified that when the incident was first reported he specifically asked “[I]f anybody had any information that could corroborate some of the stuff [complaining witness] had stated.” App. 348, ll 2-3. He previously had testified he believed her sister was present. App. at 347, ll 23-24.

Had a proper objection been raised, the State would have been required to authenticate these messages. The testimony at the Post Conviction relief hearing shows that the messages would not have been admissible as they could not have been authenticated as having been sent by Mr. Gaskins.

From a review of the order, the Post Conviction Relief judge did not rule on this issue. As noted above, Mr. Gaskins testified at length as to alleged text messages, which were provided to defense counsel on the eve of the trial. The cross-examination of Mr. Gaskins about these messages, when the source of the messages were not authenticated, was prejudicial to Mr. Gaskins.

Failure of trial counsel to object to text Messages that placed the character of Jerald Gaskins in issue in violation of Rule 404b of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence and which messages were not properly authenticated

The third set of messages introduced at the hearing were apparently from October 10, 2014 and present two problems as to their admissibility. The messages were apparently from a Facebook messenger. They are listed as being between "Jay Fowler" and a minor child under the age of 16. At trial the person named on the messages was represented to be 12 years of age. App. at 444, 121. At the top of the page is a hand written notation "Jay Fowler - AKA for Gerald [sic] G." Neither at trial nor the Post Conviction relief hearing was information provided to explain who wrote that notation nor as to how anyone determined how "Jay Fowler" is suppose to be Jerald Gaskins. No records from Facebook or an internet provider were introduced to establish this fact. The minor child did not testify to confirm this fact. The determination as to who is "Jay Fowler" is sheer speculation at best. Mr. Gaskins was cross-examined about the

“Jay Fowler” messages. App. at 444, 18 to 445 121.

The cross-examination of Mr. Gaskins in reference to the “Jay Fowler” texts was simply devastating to the defense of Mr. Gaskins. The texts imply that while Mr. Gaskins was out on bond for a criminal sexual conduct with a minor charge, he was on Facebook trying to solicit sex from a minor girl. More prejudicial evidence is hard to imagine. Trial Counsel should have objected to this improper cross-examination. The State never attempted to introduce any source to verify the “Jay Fowler” in the text messages was in fact Mr. Gaskins.

At the Post Conviction Relief hearing the trial counsel testified he had not seen the “Jay Fowler” messages prior to the PCR hearing. App. at 723, 124 to 724, 15. This was the second batch of electronic messages that trial counsel had not seen until the PCR hearing.² At trial all were presented by the state as being messages from Mr. Gaskins and should have been disclosed prior to trial. Trial counsel should not have to wait until the Post Conviction Relief hearing to receive all his discovery.

These messages presented two problems to which no objections were raised by trial counsel. First, trial counsel failed to object and ask for a good faith basis for asking about messages from a “Jay Fowler” and the good faith basis for the State to believe they were from Mr. Gaskins. Second, the messages imply that Mr. Gaskins is having an inappropriate conversation with a 12 year old girl. Such evidence is not relevant. This evidence under Rule 404b of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence would have been excluded as improper character

² At the Post Conviction Relief hearing the parties stipulated that the electronic messages introduced into evidence were obtained by Post Conviction Relief counsel from the file of Assistant Solicitor Kristie B. Hodge. Copies of these documents were provided to opposing counsel prior to this hearing. App. at 752, 114-12.

evidence. Even if somehow admissible, the evidence falls far short of the clear and convincing standard imposed by our courts. From this record it is neither clear nor convincing that the messages were in fact from Mr. Gaskins. The failure to object to these messages was certainly prejudicial to Mr. Gaskins. Trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object both as to a good faith basis for the questions and failing to object as to improper character evidence under Rule 404b of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence.

Another unauthenticated text message exchange allegedly occurred involving the 404b witness. During cross examination by the state, Mr. Gaskins was again asked about a Facebook exchange with the 404b witness. He was asked about sitting in a car with her listening to music and about his asking her to call him. App. at 454, 1 13 to 455, 1 7. In this exchange, the prosecutor sarcastically made the statement “Well, maybe you did it under Jay Fowler?” App. at 454, 1 25. The implication from the cross examination was that the Facebook exchange occurred while he was out on bond as Mr. Gaskins repeatedly said during this cross, he had not been on Facebook since 2012, when he was arrested. Again the implication was made that while Mr. Gaskins was awaiting trial on serious child sex abuse charges he was contacting young girls. The State never offered a basis for this allegation.³

The Post Conviction Relief judge never ruled on this issue. In the Rule 59 motion, this issue was specifically called to the attention of the PCR judge. App. at 783-784. This improper 404b evidence was completely ignored by the PCR judge. No trial strategy was given for not objecting to this issue. Because the PCR judge did not rule on this issue, this Court should

³ In the testimony of the Rule 404b witness, she was never asked if she had had any Facebook communication with Mr. Gaskins after he was arrested. App. at 306-326.

review this issue de novo.

Failure of trial counsel to object to improper character evidence in violation of Rule 404b of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence when the State asked about alleged drug dealing by Jerald Gaskins.

During the trial, Mr. Gaskins was asked the following questions on cross-examination:

Q. (By Ms. Hodge) You're not supplementing that by selling pills or pot?

A. (By Mr. Gaskins) No, ma'am.

Q. Okay

A. Actually, I've never done a drug in my life.

Q. I didn't ask you if you did drugs.

A. I've never sold a drug in my life.

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