STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Greenville County

Honorable Alex Kinlaw, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-000907

JERALD D. GASKINS, JR., #00362923,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

TAYLOR ZANE SMITH
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 103282

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-0904

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

JAN 06 2020

S.C. SUPREME COURT

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

In evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, the reviewing court applies the two-pronged test outlined in Strickland, 466 U.S. 668. First, Petitioner must prove that Counsel’s performance was deficient. Id.; Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). Under this prong, the court measures an attorney’s performance by its “reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). “Counsel is strongly presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment.” Id. (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690). Petitioner must overcome this presumption to receive relief. Cherry, 300 S.C. at 118, 386 S.E.2d at 625. Second, Counsel’s deficient performance must have prejudiced Petitioner such that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for Counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

The standards do not establish mechanical rules; the ultimate focus of inquiry must be on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged. Strickland does not require a finding of ineffectiveness merely for deviation from some rigid rule of representation. Rather, Strickland requires the PCR applicant to prove “counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the ‘counsel’ guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment.” Id. at 697.

Issue One

The PCR court properly found Petitioner failed to demonstrate the State’s cross-examination of Petitioner about his electronic communications with the victim and her family members and about other topics affected the outcome of his trial.

Petitioner argues the PCR court erred in finding trial counsel was not constitutionally ineffective for failing to preserve for appellate review multiple objections to questions asked of Petitioner by the State on cross-examination. Petitioner has failed to show trial counsel’s failure to object or preserve objections during the State’s cross-examination of Petitioner affected the outcome of his trial because the relevant portions of the cross-examination were so limited in scope or duration that they likely had no effect when considered within the context of the entirety of the State’s case and because, in other instances, counsel and Petitioner refuted the implications of the State’s questions.

A. Petitioner suffered no prejudice when Petitioner was cross-examined about his text messages with the victim’s sister that were not admitted into evidence.

Petitioner argues trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object to the State’s cross-examination of Petitioner about texts between him and the victim’s sister. The PCR court did not

address this issue in its order.¹ Nevertheless, trial counsel was not ineffective in his handling of the testimony about the text messages. At trial, the victim's sister testified that she had received text messages from Petitioner that caused her to suspect an inappropriate relationship between the victim and Petitioner, to which trial counsel objected. App. 101. In response to trial counsel's objection, the trial court instructed the State to lay a foundation for the texts so that it could give a ruling. App. 103. Outside the jury's presence, the victim's sister testified that she had received the text messages from Petitioner, and that she had communicated with him by text message and voice calls, and shared the photographs of the texts with the State on the day before trial. App. 104-05. The trial court overruled trial counsel's objection, and allowed the State to question the victim's sister about the texts in the jury's presence. App. 105-06. The record demonstrates that trial counsel did object to the questions from the State about the text messages, and the trial court's instructing the State to lay a foundation for the texts demonstrates that trial counsel's objection adequately conveyed the substance or the argument Petitioner argues should have been made. In other words, trial counsel did what Petitioner now says he did not do.

Petitioner has failed to demonstrate that the State did not have a good faith basis in asking Petitioner about the text messages in light of the testimony of the victim's sister, which established Petitioner as the author. See Rule 901(b)(1), SCRE (recognizing the requirements for authentication can be satisfied in multiple ways, including through presentation of testimony from a witness with knowledge the thing being offered is what it is purported to be); see also Winburn v. Minnesota Mut. Life Ins. Co., 261 S.C. 568, 576-77, 201 S.E.2d 376 (1973) (stating direct proof is not required to authenticate a piece of evidence, and indirect or circumstantial

¹ Petitioner did not specifically address this issue in his motion to alter or amend the judgment, referring only generally to his allegation that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object "to the various text message and other electronic communications . . ." App. 782.

evidence may be used instead); see also Henry, 292 Neb. at 868-69 (finding that a sufficient foundation for the admission of a hard copy of text messages sent by the defendant had been established by witness testimony that the sending number belonged to Henry and on the content of the text, and noting that a party seeking to admit texts is not required to prove conclusively the authorship of the messages before they can be admitted).

Petitioner testified at the PCR hearing that he did not send the relevant texts to the victim's sister. Petitioner now argues that aspects of the photographs of the text messages calls into question their authenticity. Petitioner cites the references to "momma" in the texts as proof that he was not the author, as he would not have referred to the victim's mother that way; however, the victim's mother testified at trial that Petitioner referred to her as "mom", the victim's father as "dad", and the victim as his little sister. App. 64-65. Petitioner testified he treated the victim as if she were his sister. App. 422.

Since the messages were not admitted into evidence at trial, they likely had only limited effect on the jury's verdict since the only testimony about them was from the victim's sister and Petitioner's denial that he had sent the messages. Therefore, there was no prejudice in the State's questions. See McEachern, 399 S.C. at 148, 731 S.E.2d at 616 (noting that the mere asking of an improper question is not necessarily prejudicial if no evidence is introduced as a result of the question). The PCR court properly found that Petitioner failed to establish any prejudice suffered in trial counsel's not preserving the objections for appellate review.

B. The PCR court properly found that Petitioner suffered no prejudice from trial counsel's failure to preserve his objection to the State's cross-examination of Petitioner about text messages to the victim's father.

Petitioner argues trial counsel was ineffective for failing to preserve his objection to the State's questioning of Petitioner about text messages he sent to the victim's father because the

issue was not preserved for appellate review and because trial counsel did not require the State to establish a good faith basis in asking the questions. Even if trial counsel had preserved the objection, Petitioner would not have been successful on appeal. Petitioner testified he hated the victim's family after the victim reported her allegations to police. App. 423-24. The State asked Petitioner if he texted the victim's father after the victim's disclosure in order to share with the father the news that Petitioner's divorce had become final, Petitioner denied doing so, and the trial court sustained trial counsel's subsequent objection to the State's lack of foundation. App. 424-25. The State asked Petitioner if he later texted the victim's father asking him to drop the accusations of sexual misconduct on Petitioner's part. App. 426. The trial court sustained trial counsel's objection to the question. App. 426. Trial counsel then unsuccessfully objected to the State's use of hard copies while questioning Petitioner if he had sent certain texts to the victim's father, arguing that the solicitor was using hard copies as if she were confronting Petitioner with evidence, the foundation of which had not been established. App. 426-30. The State indicated it had a witness it could call in rebuttal who could lay a proper foundation for the admission of the texts, and that it was giving Petitioner the opportunity to admit or deny sending the texts before calling its rebuttal witness. App. 427. The State identified the victim's mother as its rebuttal witness and the source of the texts, stated the mother provided the text messages to the State after taking photographs of them from the phone of the victim's father, and noted that the photographs had been provided to trial counsel before trial. App. 428. After that point, the State again asked Petitioner if he had sent texts to the victim's father, which Petitioner denied. App. 431-433. The State did not call a rebuttal witness, and Petitioner's denials regarding the text messages was the only testimony before the jury about them.

The PCR court properly found that Petitioner had failed to offer more than conjecture about the outcome of trial had trial counsel had objected further to the State's questions. Petitioner strenuously denied at trial that he had sent the text messages. The messages were not admitted into evidence at trial, and the only testimony before the jury during trial regarding the messages was Petitioner's denial that he had sent them. App. 705. Therefore, there was no prejudice in the State's questions. See McEachern, 399 S.C. at 148, 731 S.E.2d at 616 (noting that the mere asking of an improper question is not necessarily prejudicial if no evidence is introduced as a result of the question). The trial court instructed the jury that statements made by counsel were not evidence and that it should consider only witness testimony and exhibits admitted. See Foye v. State, 335 S.C. 586, 590, n. 1, 518 S.E.2d 265, 267 (1999) (declining to presume prejudice when the trial court instructed the jury to consider guilt based only on the evidence at trial and when petitioner failed to show that the jury disregarded the instruction). The PCR court properly found that Petitioner failed to establish any prejudice suffered in trial counsel's not preserving the objections for appellate review.

C. Petitioner has failed to demonstrate he suffered prejudice when trial counsel failed to object to the State's cross-examination of Petitioner about his contacting another minor on Facebook under the name of "Jay Fowler".

Petitioner argues the State's cross-examination about a Facebook profile for "Jay Fowler" constituted improper character evidence because the questions implied Petitioner was using a false social media profile to solicit sex from a minor while on bond and awaiting trial in the underlying criminal case, and that trial counsel was constitutionally ineffective in failing to object to the questions. Petitioner and trial counsel testified about this issue at the PCR hearing. App. 669-71, 723-26. Although the PCR court did not specifically address Petitioner's claim that

trial counsel's failure to object to the questions was ineffective, it did find generally that the record contradicted Petitioner's allegations. App. 771-72.²

Petitioner has failed to show that he was prejudiced by trial counsel's failure to object to the questions. The State asked Petitioner if he had had dinner with a woman named Jennifer Anglin, and whether he had sent a Facebook friend request to the woman's twelve-year-old daughter afterwards. App. 444-45. When Petitioner denied having any knowledge of the child or being Facebook friends with her, the State asked if Petitioner had been using Facebook under the name of "Jay Fowler", which Petitioner likewise denied. App. 445. After these limited questions about Petitioner's alleged Facebook contact with Anglin's minor daughter, the subject was never again specifically referenced at trial. The State did not mention the questions or Petitioner's denials in closing arguments, focusing instead on Petitioner's actions with regards to the victim and her family. App. 486-96.

D. Petitioner has failed to show he suffered any prejudice when trial counsel failed to object to the State's brief cross-examination about whether Petitioner has ever sold drugs.

Trial counsel did not object when the State asked Petitioner on cross-examination whether he had ever sold drugs. App. 442. Petitioner denied ever using or selling drugs, and the issue was never mentioned again during trial. App. 442. The exchange consisted of a single question from the State and a follow-up question. This quite brief instance of cross-examination likely had no effect on the jury's verdict, considering its brevity and its lack of recurrence or reference at any other point during the trial. As such, Petitioner has failed to show that he suffered prejudice from trial counsel's failure to object to the questions.

² Petitioner specifically requested in his motion to alter or amend the judgment that the PCR court address the issue. App. 783-84. The PCR court did not do so, and Respondent submits remand may be appropriate in order to allow the PCR court to make findings as to the issue.

E. Petitioner has failed to demonstrate that he suffered any prejudice from trial counsel's failure to object to the State's cross-examination about Petitioner's violation of a "no-contact" order involving his fiancée.

Petitioner has failed to demonstrate that he suffered prejudice from trial counsel's failure to object to the State's questioning about whether Petitioner had violated a restraining order prohibiting him from contacting his fiancée, Angelina Campbell, who was present in the courtroom during trial, and whether there was "an active charge with [Campbell]" App. 4465-46. As the PCR court correctly noted, trial counsel did object, and based his objection upon the fact that the State was arguing with Petitioner. App. 772. Petitioner had the opportunity to deny that he had violated restraining order and that there was an ongoing case involving him and Campbell, and he made the most of that opportunity. He also testified in response that Campbell was going to drop the case against him or that she had already done so. App. 446. As it was specifically noted from the State's question and from Petitioner's answer that Campbell was present in the courtroom, the jury likely expected to hear for more information about the restraining order from her; lacking that, the jury heard only the questions and Petitioner's strong denials, which would have lessened the effect of the questioning.

F. The Court should not recognize "cumulative error" as a new ground for post-conviction relief in South Carolina's jurisprudence in this case.

Petitioner argues the Court should use this case to hold for the first time the principle that cumulative instances of deficient performance on the part of a defense attorney that are not prejudicial in and of themselves may have a cumulative effect that is sufficiently prejudicial to warrant the grant of post-conviction relief. The Court should not use this case as a vehicle to institute such a change into this State's collateral jurisprudence to begin recognizing cumulative errors as a ground for relief in PCR actions. See Green v. State, 351 S.C. 184, 197, 569 S.E.2d

318, 325 (2002) (holding that it is unsettled whether individual errors that may not be prejudicial when considered independently may be prejudicial when considered cumulatively, but recognizing that a PCR applicant would have to show, as a threshold matter, that counsel committed errors). Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are to be reviewed by the PCR courts individually. Fisher v. Angelone, 163 F.3d 835, 852 (4th Cir. 1998). This is especially true when the issue was not raised and argued by Petitioner until this appeal.

Issue Two

The PCR court properly found trial counsel was not constitutionally ineffective in failing to object to hearsay testimony from a law enforcement witness and a physician because the testimony from the physician was admissible due to the medical treatment exception to the hearsay rule and Petitioner has failed to demonstrate prejudice from trial counsel's failure to object to the instances of hearsay.

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